STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Florence County

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID GERRARD JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-209267

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The trial court erroneously admitted a statement made by Appellant to police officers where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Appellant's lack of mental capacity to making a knowing waiver of his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability.

II. The trial court's erroneously found Appellant knowingly consented to the police taking a DNA sample and fingerprint standard from him where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Appellant lacked the mental capacity to make a knowing waiver of his rights due to his intellectual disability.

III. The trial court erred in admitting evidence that was the product of Appellant's statement where the evidence was the fruit of the poisonous tree, Appellant's statement, which was made without Appellant having the capacity to waive his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability and where Appellant lacked the capacity to consent to the search of his house.

IV. Appellant's state and federal constitutional rights to a trial by a fair and impartial jury were violated by the trial judge erroneously excusing a juror, who stated that although she knew members of Appellant's family, she could be fair and impartial.

V. The trial judge erred in admitting photographs of the deceased's body where the danger of unfair prejudice clearly outweighed any probative value of the photographs in light of the judge and prosecutor admitting the photographs were graphic and the prosecutor's failure to use the photographs for the reasons proffered - to corroborate testimony regarding the injuries and to identify the deceased.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In a single indictment, a Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the first degree, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and conspiracy. R. 8, lines 4-11; Indictment. On February 9, 2012, the Honorable Thomas A. Russo presided over a pretrial hearing concerning Appellant's competency to stand trial, the admissibility of his statement to law enforcement, the voluntariness of his consent to a buccal swab and fingerprint standards, and the admissibility of evidence uncovered as a result of Appellant's statement. R. 1; R. 4, lines 6-9; R. 32, line 10 – R. 33, line 23.¹ After the presentation of a witness by the prosecution, Judge Russo concluded Appellant was competent to proceed to trial and to assist his attorney. R. 31, lines 20-25. Concerning the admissibility of Appellant's statement, Judge Russo took the matter under advisement. R. 167, lines 10-18.

The prosecution, represented by E.L. Clements, III and John C. Jepertinger, called the case for trial on February 13, 2012 before Judge Russo and a jury. W. James Hoffmeyer represented Appellant. R. 193. At the conclusion of jury selection, Judge Russo announced his decision on the issues taken under advisement. He ruled Appellant's statement was admissible. R. 205, lines 13-19. As a corollary matter, the judge ruled the items found as a result of Appellant's statement were admissible as well. R. 210, lines 3-25. The judge permitted the state to present additional evidence on the matter of Appellant's consent to the buccal swabs and fingerprint card. At the conclusion of the presentation, the judge ruled the samples were admissible. R. 231, lines 9-16.

¹ The transcripts are not consecutively paginated. Therefore, Appellant refers to the transcript of the hearing on February 9, 2012 with the abbreviation "Hrg" and to the trial transcript with the abbreviation "Tr."

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder, burglary in the first degree, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and criminal conspiracy. R. 584, lines 2-18. Judge Russo sentenced Appellant to life without parole for murder and a consecutive life sentence for burglary in the first degree, to thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for conspiracy, which were to run concurrently. The sentence for the weapons charge was subsumed with the life sentence. R. 588, line 10 – R. 589, line 10; Sentence sheets.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erroneously admitted a statement made by Appellant to police officers where the undisputed evidence demonstrated Appellant's lack of mental capacity to making a knowing waiver of his constitutional rights due to his intellectual disability.

Relevant facts

During a pretrial hearing, the state presented the testimony of Dr. Alicia V. Hall from the Department of Disability and Special Needs. Dr. Hall testified regarding whether Appellant was competent to stand trial. In arriving at her conclusion that Appellant was competent, Dr. Hall determined that Appellant suffered from an intellectual disability, formerly called mental retardation. R. 12, lines 4-16. She classified Appellant as in the mild range of mental retardation. R. 12, lines 17-23. Dr. Hall testified that Appellant "required more time to understand and answer questions than a person who did not have intellectual disability." R. 18, lines 13-17. Importantly, Dr. Hall qualified her opinion that Appellant was competent to enter a guilty plea: "Yes, as long as with the caveat that he was given ample time to understand." R. 19, lines 9-13. Even more importantly, she qualified her finding of competency – "he met the standard for competency, but that he does require more time to answer questions and make sure that he's fully understanding what is being asked of him." R. 27, lines 18-24. During the evaluation, Dr. Hall knew Appellant did not understand something because he would say so, answer a question with "I don't know," or his facial expressions would indicate his confusion. R. 29, lines 18-25.

On cross-examination, Dr. Hall admitted that Appellant's school records indicated a full scale IQ score of 58 in September 1993 and a score of 51 in September 1996. R. 23, lines 18-23; R. 24, lines 2-6. She testified that Appellant's test scores were in the

“extremely low range.” R. 24, lines 11-12. During the competency evaluation, Appellant struggled to understand conspiracy. Dr. Hall educated Appellant on the topic and he applied this education to a hypothetical case. R. 25, line 15 – R. 26, line 6. Additionally, Appellant struggled with the concept of a plea bargain, and educating him on this topic required “a good deal of effort and education” by the doctors. R. 26, lines 7-12. According to Dr. Hall, a finding of competency required a fairly low standard of understanding. R. 27, lines 4-7.

Timothy Wade Compton, an officer with the Florence Police Department, testified during the pre-trial hearing as well. At 4 p.m., investigators brought Appellant to Compton’s office for Compton to sit with him while investigators handled other matters R. 37, line 7 – R. 38, line 12. Compton testified that he was playing a video game on his computer and Appellant laughed about the game. The two then talked about the video game. After about an hour, Compton and Appellant got something to eat and drink from the vending machines. R. 39, line 10 – R. 40, line 6. Compton began typing reports, and Appellant asked permission to take a nap. According to Compton, Appellant slept in the chair for several hours. R. 40, lines 7-16; R. 60, lines 10-15.²

Compton “got tired of typing” and his curiosity as a detective took over. He “decided [he] wanted to see if [Appellant would] like to talk.” Compton told Appellant the other detectives were down the hall talking to others and “before they tell them what happened, how about you talk to me.” Appellant agreed to talk. Compton stated “before we talk I need to read your rights to you.” Compton then read the rights, in toto, from a card. R. 40, line 19 – R. 41, line 8; R. 41, line 24 – R. 42, line 6; R. 57, lines 10-17. . At the

² During the trial, Compton testified that he knew the investigators were working the case because he heard what was going on over the radio. R. 385, line 16 – R. 386, line 4.

conclusion of the recitation, Compton asked if Appellant understood and if he wished to talk. R. 45, lines 3-24. Compton claimed Appellant understood his rights, and Compton had no reason to believe otherwise. R. 45, line 21 – R. 46 1; R. 46, lines 17-23.

Initially, Appellant claimed he observed others burglarizing the victim's residence. Compton accused Appellant of lying and instructed him to tell the truth. R. 47, lines 7-17. Then, Appellant stated he was there when others went into the victim's residence and stole items. R. 47, lines 17-19. During the interrogation, two other officers entered the room; thus, three officers participated in the interrogation of Appellant. R. 47, line 20 – R. 48, line 10. Thereafter, Compton told Appellant he needed to tell them where the body was – for the sake of the victim's family. R. 48, lines 13-17.³ Appellant stated he could take them to the body. R. 48, lines 17-18. Appellant claimed he knew the location of the body because "Amp" told him. R. 48, line 24 – R. 49, line 1. When Appellant moved toward the door to direct the officers to the location, Compton ordered him to stop and directed him to return to his seat. R. 49, line 8-13.

Although Compton claimed he had very limited involvement in the investigation, he knew the suspected cause of death. Therefore, he decided to query Appellant accordingly. Appellant stated the victim's throat was cut. R. 49, line 17 – R. 50, line 7. Afterwards, Appellant, Compton, Officer Calhoun, and Officer Drulis got into a vehicle, followed by Officers Raines, Drayton, and Godwin in a separate vehicle. R. 50, lines 15-24. Compton did not know what time they left, but admitted it could have been after midnight – or at least

³ At trial, Compton testified that he gave a spiel about telling the truth and being honest. R. 392, lines 6-9. Additionally, Compton "tried to play on a sympathy card, you know, that we call it. You know, say hey, the family needs closure, we know she is deceased." R. 394, lines 2-7.

eight hours after Appellant initially arrived in his office. He knew it was “a long time.” R. 54, lines 10-21.⁴ Compton testified that Appellant took them to the body on Malloy Street. R. 51, lines 1-22. Compton accused Appellant of lying again. He told Appellant that he knew the location of the body because he had been shown or he was there when the body was dumped. Appellant responded “yes, sir.” R. 52, lines 3-13. The officers and Appellant returned to the police department. Everyone entered the conference room and interrogated Appellant. When “Drayton and Godwin felt they had what they wanted from his statement they recorded his statement.” Compton then went home. R. 52, line 18 – R. 53, line 5. On cross-examination, Compton testified that he had no prior knowledge of Appellant and was unaware he suffered from an intellectual disability. R. 57, line 24 – R. 58, line 22.

Melvin Godwin, an investigator on the case, testified that after the individuals searched for the body, everyone returned to the police department “[t]o get a formal statement from the defendant.” R. 77, lines 16-18. Godwin advised Appellant of his rights using his card and had Appellant sign a waiver of rights form. R. 77, lines 19-25; R. 88, line 21 – R. 89, line 4. Godwin did not know if Appellant could read and write, so he read the form to Appellant. R. 80, lines 9-16. Godwin read the card completely, and then asked if Appellant understood. R. 78, lines 6-7. Godwin claimed Appellant was “clear, coherent,” and Goodwin did not notice anything out of the ordinary. R. 78, lines 19-21.

The officers then talked to Appellant “to clear the matter, anything discrepancies, to get more detail about what happened” before commencing “the official recorded statement.”

⁴ During the trial, Compton testified that he did not recall testifying previously that he spoke to Appellant after midnight about the crime. However, he admitted that when they went looking for the body, it was some time the next day. It may have been between the hours of two and three in the morning. R. 409, line 17 – R. 410, line 10.

Godwin did not know how long this process took. R. 79, lines 1-10. Appellant “seemed to understand everything that was being stated in the room” and “never made any statement that he didn’t understand everything.” R. 79, lines 16-18. The official recorded statement began at 3:15 a.m. – over eleven hours after Appellant arrived at the police department. R. 86, line 8 – R. 87, line 1.

Like Compton, Godwin did not know Appellant’s education level or any other details of his background. R. 88, lines 3-20. Godwin did not ask Appellant if he understood the word “waiver.” R. 89, lines 12-14. Godwin claimed to have previous experience with severely mentally retarded people, and he knew of their disabilities based on “their behavior and actions.” R. 91, lines 7-11.⁵ Larry Drayton, another officer with the police department, testified similarly to Compton and Godwin. R. 92, line 25 – R. 104, line 12.⁶

Appellant called Dr. David Richard Price to testify as an expert witness. Dr. Price’s testing revealed Appellant had an IQ of 59. This placed Appellant at the low end of mild mental retardation. R. 110, lines 11-25. Additionally, testing placed Appellant at a grade equivalency of a kindergartner. R. 112, lines 14-24. In Dr. Price’s expert opinion, Appellant lacked the ability to understand “complex words, complex sentences, complex phrases.” R. 113, lines 16-17. For word reading, Appellant scored a grade equivalency of a second grader, but sentence comprehension and verbal comprehension showed severe deficits. R. 113, lines 17 – R. 114, line 2. Appellant’s school records supported Dr. Price’s results. R. 114, lines 3-17. Appellant could write and read “very simply,” but reading did not amount to comprehending. R. 114, lines 18-23.

⁵ Godwin’s trial testimony was similar to that of his pretrial testimony. R. 438, line 19 – R. 497, line 15.

Regarding the Miranda rights, Dr. Price testified that Appellant “would have understood them as well as any kindergartner would have understood them.” Appellant would not have understood the warnings “as far as the implications for stating them.” Put simply, in Dr. Price’s opinion, Appellant lacked the ability to understand the Miranda waiver. R. 116, line 19 – R. 118, line 6.

People with intellectual disabilities learn to adapt through acquiescence – they claim to understand when they do not and laugh at jokes they do not understand. R. 118, line 7 – R. 119, line 2. Dr. Price discussed the Miranda warnings with Appellant. He was unable to define “waive.” Dr. Price spent a considerable amount of time talking to Appellant about each right and explaining the implications of each right. Of course, this happened after Dr. Hall saw Appellant and educated him as well. R. 119, lines 7-17.

According to Dr. Price, Appellant was more agreeable with the officers because he had been in custody for over eleven hours, it was the middle of the night, and at least three officers were present for the interrogation. R. 120, line 11 – R. 121, line 2. Dr. Price explained that individuals with mental retardation “tend to decompensate under stress.” R. 124, lines 11-12.

Under unusual periods of stress they tend to disintegrate, may need special assistance and counseling. They just cannot factor and process information about what’s going on and understanding what’s happening around them, cannot make rational decision during those periods.

R. 133, lines 13-24. Being under police investigation and being in custody for over eleven hours would cause a person with mental retardation to withdraw and it would decrease their

⁶ Drayton’s trial testimony was similar to that of his pretrial testimony. R. 520, line 17 – R. 571, line 8.

ability to comprehend and make informed choices and decisions. R. 133, line 25 – R. 134, line 19.

On cross-examination, Dr. Price testified that individuals with mild mental retardation may hold a job. When the prosecutor asked about the ability of kindergartners to hold a job, Dr. Price explained that even kindergartners can perform routine skills. Appellant worked at McDonald's. R. 124, line 19 – R. 125, line 16. Additionally, Appellant drove a car, despite doing so without a license. R. 126, lines 12-17. Nevertheless, Dr. Price testified that the police officer's statements regarding how Appellant informed them of the location of the body supported Appellant suffering from mental retardation because he failed to use street names and used other landmarks for his guide. R. 127, lines 11-15.

The prosecutor placed emphasis on the fact that Appellant had entered guilty pleas previously; and therefore, he had been informed of his rights and waived those rights. R. 129, lines 1-11. Dr. Price explained, again, this was an example of acquiescence as all that was required of Appellant was agreement. R. 129, lines 12-21. Dr. Price, like Dr. Hall, explained that competency to stand trial is not the same as competency to enter a guilty plea because Appellant would require "special education" in order to enter a guilty plea. R. 135, lines 10-15.

When asked by the trial court about Appellant's ability to learn from his past exposure with the court system, Dr. Price testified that Appellant "never profited from any of those experiences and he really doesn't have an ability to learn." After being in school for twelve years, appellant can read words at a third grade level and his reading

comprehension was at a kindergarten level. Thus, Appellant did not profit from formal education. R. 138, line 24 – R. 140, line 3.

At the conclusion of the testimony, the prosecutor argued he “fe[lt] like [he] put up gracious sufficient evidence that [Appellant knew what he was doing.” According to the prosecutor, “there’s nothing complex” about “you have the right to remain silent.” He argued it takes very little intelligence to “understand you got the right to keep your mouth shut.” He went through each of the warnings and argued “there was nothing complex” about them. The prosecutor found “it ludicrous that you’d think that he’s in kindergarten or that he - - or that you would try to argue he was on a kindergarten scale. He held a job at McDonald’s for over a year.” Holding a job at McDonald’s was “well beyond any kindergartner.” He argued Appellant knew what he was doing and no one coerced him. Nevertheless, he admitted that Appellant did not “understand a lot of things abstractly,” but argued Appellant understood “on a basic level that he had the right to keep his mouth shut.” R. 158, line 24 – R. 162, line 16.

The prosecutor persisted in arguing a flawed syllogism. He argued that if Appellant were competent to stand trial, then he would be competent to enter a guilty plea; if Appellant were competent to enter a guilty plea, then he would be competent to waive his rights under Miranda. R. 166, line 12 – R. 167, line 9.

Appellant argued the issue was whether Appellant understood his rights and then freely and voluntarily chose to give up those rights.⁷ The evidence before the court was uncontradicted that Appellant suffered from mental retardation and that it required “real

⁷ Appellant renewed his objections contemporaneous with the introduction of the statements at trial. R. 387, lines 1-19; R. 392, lines 5-11; R. 471, lines 2-5; R. 538, lines 15-19; R. 554, lines 15-21; R. 858, lines 19-24.

effort” to make sure Appellant understood information. Appellant explained the totality of the circumstances included Appellant’s mental deficiency, the length of time he had been in police custody, the length of time he had been interrogated, and the number of officers in the room during the interrogation. R. 162, line 19 – R. 166, line 10.

Judge Russo ruled Appellant’s statement was admissible. He explained “[j]ust the evidence overall taking into consideration both expert and the lay testimony, I believe that it was appropriate for the statement to come in.” He acknowledged that Appellant was “at the police department for some length of time, I mean an inordinate length of time with regards to waiting to give his statement.” The judge was persuaded that Appellant possessed the mental ability to understand his Miranda warnings and knowingly waive them because “he had been through the criminal justice system in the past.” He thought all of Appellant’s responses to questions were appropriate. He also accepted the prosecutor’s argument that if Appellant were competent to enter a guilty plea, then he possessed the mental ability to understand and waive his rights knowingly. R. 205, line 2 – R. 208, line 16.

Discussion

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