ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

---

The State, Respondent,

v.

David Gerrard Johnson, Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2012-209267

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. MCINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

E.L. CLEMENTS, III  
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit  
Box Q  
City-County Complex

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

than just giving consent to search, accompanied the officers to the home to recover the items. The record well and fully supports the trial judge's factual findings. His ruling should not be disturbed.

Further, the record reflects the officers also obtained the permission of Appellant's father to search the home. (R. p. 90, lines 1-16). This consent from another resident of the home is not contested, thus, the search was conducted with consent. *See Georgia v. Randolph*, 547 U.S. 103, 105-106 (2006) ("The Fourth Amendment recognizes a valid warrantless entry and search of premises when police obtain the voluntary consent of an occupant who shares, or is reasonably believed to share, authority over the area in common with a co-occupant who later objects to the use of evidence so obtained."). In sum, nothing in the record shows any overreaching by officer such as would necessitate the exclusion of evidence to deter future improper police conduct. At any rate, Appellant is not entitled to relief as he fails to show an abuse of discretion. He is not entitled to any relief.

#### IV.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in excusing Juror #130 who stated that she knew members of Appellant's family, and that she could be fair and impartial but expressed great hesitation on having to serve on the jury and face those family members after trial.

#### Relevant Facts:

In qualifying the jury, the trial judge questioned if anyone "knows anything about this case based on what I've shared with you from the indictment or the allegation contained in the indictment...." (R. p. 195, lines 5-9). - Juror #130, a hairdresser, indicated she knew Appellant's family. Specifically, she advised the court that Daisy Johnson, a sister, was a then current client. She asked to be excused because she knows the family. (R. p. 196, lines 4-7). She stated she "would be fair, but [did not] want that overhead." (R. p. 196, lines 12-13). She stated: "I just wouldn't feel comfortable on that case." (R. p. 196, lines 13-24). Juror #130 added that she also knew another family member and had done work for that family member, as well. (R. p. 197, lines 1-12). Juror #130 indicated that she would be in a "bad position" if asked to serve, and concluded she "would give [her] opinion. Yeah, I would have to do what I have to do; but I just don't feel comfortable being on it being that I do her hair." (R. p. 197, line 13 – p. 198, line 22). The solicitor acknowledged that service may be difficult to deliberate with a "free mind." The juror expressed, "If he's guilty I wouldn't know how to ...." (R. p. 199, lines 6-19). After the juror returned to her seat, the solicitor noted to the trial judge that service could "affect pecuniary interest because if she decides against them they might not come to get their hair done there anymore." (R. p. 200, lines 3-12). Defense counsel noted that the juror indicated she could be fair and impartial. (R. p. 200, line 21 – p. 201, line 3). The trial judge expressed the inclination to excuse the juror, and

likely would if there remained sufficient numbers in the jury pool. (R. p. 201, line 12 – p. 202, line 2). The trial judge, satisfied with the number of jurors available, excused Juror #130. (R. p. 203, line 24 – p. 204, line 3). Counsel preserved an objection to the excusal after selection but before the jury was sworn. (R. p. 244, line 20 – p. 245, line 9). The trial judge reaffirmed his ruling noting the juror, while she said she could be fair, “was very, very uncomfortable” and expressed concern over having to “face his family again.” Further there was a pecuniary interest to consider, and there were ample other jurors without that interest. The trial judge noted the juror was “clearly uncomfortable serving” and, because there were ample jurors in the pool without those distractions, he excused the juror. (R. p. 245, line 10 – p. 247, line 11).

Discussion:

“It is the duty of the trial judge to assure himself that each and every prospective juror is unbiased, fair, and impartial.” *State v. Holland*, 261 S.C. 488, 495, 201 S.E.2d 118, 122 (1973). The trial judge is tasked with initially qualifying the jury pool prior to jury selection. State law leaves to the discretion of the trial judge whether a juror should be set aside: “*If it appears to the court that the juror is not indifferent in the cause, he must be placed aside as to the trial that cause and another must be called.*” S.C. Code § 14-7-1020 (emphasis added). *See also State v. Franklin*, 267 S.C. 240, 248, 226 S.E.2d 896, 899 (1976) (“The words of the statute, ‘if it appears to the court,’ are evidence of the discretion vested in the trial judge.”). This decision may be based upon a number of things including demeanor. As such deference to the trial judge is especially important: “Deference to the trial court is appropriate because it is in a position to assess the demeanor of the venire, and of the individuals who compose it, a factor of critical

importance in assessing the attitude and qualifications of potential jurors.” *Uttecht v. Brown*, 551 U.S. 1, 9-10 (2007). *See also State v. Mercer*, 381 S.C. 149, 157, 672 S.E.2d 556, 560 (2009) (trial judge’s reliance on demeanor in determining juror was not qualified to serve on a capital jury).

Here, the trial judge considered the extreme hesitancy the juror repeatedly expressed. He reasonably determined that avoidance of those pressures would be the best route to ensure a selection of indifferent jurors. See 50 A C.J.S Juries § 381 (last updated June 2013) (“It has been said that a jury that contains friends and acquaintances of one of the parties is not impartial.”). The existence of the juror’s declaration that she would be fair and impartial is not definitive of her competence as a juror in light of the repeated expressions of discomfort in service and the unknown impact of the pressure of returning a verdict and having to face the family. In sum, the record well supports the exercise of discretion to excuse the juror upon these facts. Further, Applicant cannot prove prejudice on this record as there is no right to be tried by a jury composed of particular individuals.” *State v. McDaniel*, 275 S.C. 222, 224, 268 S.E.2d 585, 586 (1980). However, because the record fairly supports the trial judge’s exercise of discretion, Appellant cannot show an abuse of discretion in the ruling. Consequently, he is not entitled to relief. *State v. Jones*, 298 S.C. 118, 121, 378 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1989) (“The determination of a juror’s competence is within the trial judge’s sole discretion, and is not reviewable on appeal absent an abuse constituting an error of law.”).

## V.

The trial court did not abuse his discretion in admitting photographs of the deceased's body where he carefully examined and excluded photographs that he considered overtly graphic and admitted only those photographs which would allow the State to prove its case without the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant.

### Relevant Facts:

The State initially advised the trial judge it would offer seven photographs of the victim's body as found in the ditch by the side of the road to corroborate facts of the murder and disposal. Defense counsel objected and argued "the prejudicial value clearly outweighs the probative value," and cause of death and manner of death would be established through testimony. He also argued the photographs showed the body "several days" after the murder. (R. p. 236, line 6 - p. 238, line 1; R. p. 241, line 8 - p. 242, line 4). The trial judge carefully reviewed the photographs at issue, State's 56-62. The trial judge struck a balance between the State's need to present corroborating evidence and the defense need to avoid unfair prejudice. He admitted 56, 59, and 61. The trial judge kept out 57, 58, 60 and 62. (R. p. 242, line 5 - p. 243, line 2).

### Discussion:

"The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court." *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). *See also State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986). "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Rule 403, SCRE; *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). "To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a

‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995) (quoting *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149). However, “[i]f the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (quoting *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353). See also *State v. Salley*, 398 S.C. 160, 169, 727 S.E.2d 740, 744 (2012) (photograph of child “substantiated [forensic pathologist] Dr. [Joel] Sexton’s testimony that the child’s sickle cell trait was not outwardly apparent” thus “had a purpose independent of arousing sympathy, and was properly admitted”).

Appellant contends that trial judge erred because the admitted photographs reflected the “body as it was found and as it was altered by police after it was found,” and that photos were not otherwise used to identify the victim or illustrate the manner of death. (FBOA, pp. 40-41). The second argument on the use of the photographs was not squarely before the judge and is procedurally barred from review here. *McDonald, supra*. At any rate, the argument should be rejected as those are not the only two things that photographs may corroborate, nor does such a photograph have to be relied upon in a medical summary for admissibility. Here, the photographs corroborated the statements by co-defendants and Appellant’s own knowledge of the crime as referenced in his own statement describing the facts of the murder and the disposal of the body. (R. p. 238, lines 2-25). The proper question for determining relevance was whether the photographs had “any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Because the photographs were probative of issues in

contest and properly admitted. See *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution, despite claim that, because victim's body was found in woods 46 days after crime was committed, weather or local fauna could have altered crime scene during that period; photographs corroborated other testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); *State v. Edwards*, 10 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1940) ("In our opinion the trial Judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting the photograph [depicting head, torso, neck wound, decomposition and maggots] as being relevant, nor can we attach any importance, in view of the facts of this case, to the contention that the photograph prejudiced the jury against the defendant. Everything depicted by the photograph was, subsequent to its introduction, testified to in detail by the witnesses.").

Further, unlike the photographs in *State v. Collins*, 398 S.C. 197, 201-14, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754-60 (Ct.App. 2012), the photographs at issue here were not "calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury." Indeed, the trial judge carefully sorted through the photographs to evaluate the photographs. He referenced the need to corroborate facts as related in the statements, including the neck wounds. The trial judge acknowledged that some of the photographs were graphic, but also acknowledged "all photographs involving someone who has been killed are [going to] be difficult for lay folks." (R. p. 240, lines 20-23). He was careful to disallow "overly gruesome" or "bloody" photographs. (R. p. 241, lines 1-5). The photographs support that rule. State's 56 merely shows the wrapped body in grass. State's 59 shows the neck wounds. State's

61 shows the body in the sheet and there is indication of blood but it is not overtly gory. Conversely, State's 58 shows the body but the wounds are not readily visible. It is less probative of a fact in issue. State's 60 is a more graphic close-up of the wounds and blood on the face than compared to State's 59.<sup>11</sup> Also, State's 62 appears to show traces of blood on the neck, but shows basically the same wounds as demonstrated in State's 59. Of course, State's 59 also shows a nightgown and sheet as do the remaining photographs. Again, the trial judge struck a careful and considered balance in admitting State's 57, 58, and 61. There is no abuse of discretion on this record.

Further still, only three photographs of the seven offered were introduced. This stands in contrast to the numerous photographs of a very graphic nature admitted in *Collins* and other cases where this Court or the Supreme Court have held that there was an abuse of discretion. *See, for example, Collins*, 398 S.C. at 208, 727 S.E.2d at 757 (referencing seven photographs of a partially eaten ten year old victim: "It is difficult to look at each photo, and the combined effect of all seven is disturbing."); *State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (at least four photographs introduced of graphic, but autopsy-related, damage to remains, *i.e.* "victim's scalp pulled away from her skull" and "surgically opened vaginal cavity exposing a large amount of seminal fluid"); *State v. Waitus*, 224 S.C. 12, 27, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953) ("four pictures of deceased taken in the boiler room of the parish house before the body was removed" should have been excluded because injuries, "the condition of the clothes," and the fact "her rings had been removed and placed on the index finger," were "fully

---

<sup>11</sup> Respondent notes Appellant has not contested the photographs showing large patches of blood on the mattress, (See State's 42), and the bloody pillows, (State's 9). These photographs show copious amounts of blood.

established both by uncontradicted medical and lay testimony” thus “were calculated to inflame and arouse the passions of the jury and their introduction was wholly unnecessary to establish the facts claimed”).

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). At worst, the photographs were cumulative to the other evidence concerning the crime scene and the condition of the victim’s body. *See State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587, 588 -589 (1942) (“The photographs, it is true, were only corroborative of the spoken word, and proved to be unnecessary in this particular case, but they were no more than harmless surplusage. They showed material conditions which existed, and were not inflammable fuel to be consumed by the minds of the jurors, nor do we think that they were calculated to arouse the prejudices of the jury.”). *See also State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445 (2003) (improper evidence harmless where merely cumulative to other evidence); *State v. Evans*, 378 S.C. 296, 299, 662 S.E.2d 489, 491 (Ct. App. 2008) (evidence “merely cumulative, insubstantial” did not affect the result of trial and considered harmless).

Moreover, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. Appellant’s participation was not only established by his own statement, but his possession of stolen items, the

testimony of co-defendants, and DNA testing and fingerprints from his presence in the car. This detailed, competent evidence well supports the jury's verdict such that the admission of photographs, if considered error, could only be harmless on this record.

*Bailey, supra.*

However, the record supports the basis for the trial judge's ruling admitting the photographs over Applicant's objection. The ruling should not be disturbed on appeal.

**CONCLUSION**

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